

Decision **PROPOSED DECISION OF ALJ LONG** (Mailed 10/15/2013)

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of the Application of San Gabriel Valley Water Company (U337W) for Authority to Increase Rates Charged for Water Service in its Fontana Water Company Division by \$8,164,800 or 14.2% in July 2012, \$3,067,400 or 4.7% in July 2013, and \$3,758,200 or 5.6% in July 2014.

Application 11-07-005
(Filed July 11, 2011)

(See Attachment [IV](#) for a List of Appearances)

**DECISION MODIFYING A PROPOSED BILATERAL SETTLEMENT OF
SAN GABRIEL VALLEY WATER COMPANY'S 2012 TEST YEAR GENERAL
RATE CASE FOR THE FONTANA WATER COMPANY DIVISION AND
RESOLVES ALL OTHER CONTESTED ISSUES**

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title	Page
DECISION MODIFYING A PROPOSED BILATERAL SETTLEMENT OF SAN GABRIEL VALLEY WATER COMPANY'S 2012 TEST YEAR GENERAL RATE CASE FOR THE FONTANA WATER COMPANY DIVISION AND RESOLVES ALL OTHER CONTESTED ISSUES.....	1
Summary.....	2
1. Background.....	3
2. Standard of Proof.....	4
3. There was not an All-Party Settlement.....	4
4. Proposed Settlement is not in the Public Interest.....	5
5. Alternative to the Proposed Settlement's Terms.....	5
6. Consistent with the Law.....	6
7. Adopting the Undisputed Settlement Terms.....	7
8. Withdrawal of Facility Fee Increase.....	7
9. Disputed Projects Otherwise Included in the Bilateral Settlement.....	8
9.1. Plant F15.....	8
9.2. Plant F20.....	9
9.3. Plant F23.....	9
9.4. Plant F53.....	10
9.5. Plant F56.....	11 10
9.6. Plant F59.....	11
9.7. Advanced Meter Reading Program.....	12
9.8. Hydro-Turbine Pilot Program.....	13 12
9.9. Mains.....	13
10. Disputed Issues.....	14
10.1. Plant F7.....	14
10.2. Walnut Avenue Pipeline Project (Walnut Avenue).....	14
10.3. Slemmer Settlement.....	15
10.4. Sand Hill.....	18
10.4.1. Rate Base Adjustment.....	20
11. Procedural History.....	22
12. Comments on Proposed Decision.....	22 23
13. Assignment of Proceeding.....	23

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(Cont'd)

<u>Title</u>	<u>Page</u>
Findings of Fact.....	23
Conclusions of Law.....	24 25
ORDER.....	26

~~ATTACHMENT – List of Appearances~~

ATTACHMENT I – Settlement Agreement Between the Division of Ratepayer Advocates and San Gabriel Valley Water Company on Issues Presented in the Present General Rate Case

ATTACHMENT II – San Gabriel Valley Water Company, Fontana Water Company Division (Rate Tables)

ATTACHMENT III – Plant F14 (Sandhill) Ratebase Adjustment

[ATTACHMENT IV – List of Appearances](#)

**DECISION MODIFYING A PROPOSED BILATERAL SETTLEMENT OF
SAN GABRIEL VALLEY WATER COMPANY'S 2012 TEST YEAR GENERAL
RATE CASE FOR THE FONTANA WATER COMPANY DIVISION AND
RESOLVES ALL OTHER CONTESTED ISSUES**

Summary

In today's decision we reject the proposed bilateral settlement as offered by San Gabriel Valley Water Company (San Gabriel or Company) for its Fontana Water Company Division and the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA)¹ because it does not fairly resolve all of the issues in the proceeding. We find that the City of Fontana (City) and the Fontana School District (Schools) more reasonably resolve certain issues and, based upon the City and Schools' arguments, we conclude that San Gabriel's customers would be better served with an alternative ratemaking outcome. We, therefore, propose to modify the bilateral settlement based upon those litigated positions more persuasively offered by the City and Schools. Pursuant to Rule 12.4(c), San Gabriel and ORA must now decide whether to accept the proposed modifications to the settlement or seek other relief as allowed by the rules. As a result of the modified settlement, rates would increase by ~~3.7~~3.2%.

In addition, this decision also addresses litigated issues not included in the settlement between San Gabriel and ORA and that are also opposed by the City and Schools.

¹ "The Division of Ratepayer Advocates was renamed the Office of Ratepayer Advocates effective September 26, 2013, pursuant to Senate Bill No. 96 (Budget Act of 2013: public resources), which was approved by the Governor on September 26, 2013."

This proceeding remains open for San Gabriel and ORA to either accept the modified settlement or seek other relief. This decision provides sufficient revenue to allow San Gabriel to offer safe and reliable service and a reasonable opportunity to earn a fair return.

1. Background

San Gabriel Valley Water Company (San Gabriel or Company) is a Class-A water utility subject to the Commission's jurisdiction.

For the Test Year beginning July 1, 2012 and Escalation Years beginning July 1, 2013 and July 1, 2014, San Gabriel requests increases in rates for:

1. general metered water service;
2. conservation rate metered water service;
3. California Alternative Rates for Water;
4. private fire service;
5. construction and tank truck service, service to tract houses during construction; and
6. Facilities Fees in its Fontana Water Company Division.²

San Gabriel is also requesting that the tariff rate for recycled water, which the company requested by a separate application (Application (A.) 11-06-005), be adjusted to equal 75% of the quantity rate the Commission adopts for general metered service in this proceeding. Finally, San Gabriel is requesting advice letter treatment for an in-conduit hydro generation project.

² For simplicity we refer throughout this decision to San Gabriel generally and do not introduce the additional term "Fontana" or "Division." We also use City and Schools to likewise avoid either awkward acronyms or using three variations of "Fontana" for the operating division, the City and the Schools. On the other hand, "ORA" is a commonly used and accepted acronym and well known in the Commission's daily business.¹

All findings and orders herein are applicable only to San Gabriel's Fontana Water Company Division.

2. Standard of Proof

Applicant bears the burden of proof to show that the regulatory relief it requests is just and reasonable. In order for the Commission to consider the proposed bilateral settlement in this proceeding as being in the public interest, the Commission must be convinced that the parties had a sound and thorough understanding of the underlying issues.

3. There was not an All-Party Settlement

The proposed bilateral settlement (Attachment I) comes before the Commission after service of prepared testimony and rebuttal and after evidentiary hearings. Therefore, we must rely on the settlement's factual recital by the two settling parties of the circumstances which led to their settlement. Based on this recital, along all of our factual record, we find that the settlement is not consistent with the facts and the persuasive arguments offered by the City and Schools. (Rule 12. 1(d).)

There is no requirement that we must accept all settlements or that we cannot adopt a settlement which does not include all parties. In all cases, we must test the settlement against Rule 12 and we must consider the positions of parties opposing any bilateral settlement.³ Finally, any settlement must be fair to all parties and the ratepayers.

³ We refer to this settlement as "bilateral" because it is between two opposing parties, San Gabriel and ORA, but it excludes the "third side" of significant ratepayer interests represented by the City and School. Thus it fails to satisfy "all" sides.

4. Proposed Settlement is not in the Public Interest

Based on our review of all filed information, the testimony served and presented in evidentiary hearings, and a careful review of the proposed bilateral settlement between two of the parties, as discussed below, we find that although the proposed settlement was offered by competent and adequately prepared parties able to make informed choices in the settlement process, we cannot find, as required by Rule 12.1 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules), the proposed settlement to be reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest.

The proposed settlement is only offered by the applicant and the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA) ~~and specifically ignores~~, and in parts is unacceptable and even unfair to two other parties, the City of Fontana (City) and the Fontana School District (Schools). The City and Schools presented persuasive arguments which support superior outcomes that are at variance with the settlement. These parties are also competent and adequately prepared and therefore able to make informed choices in the settlement process and they chose to not join the bilateral settlement.

We, therefore, find the bilateral settlement is not in the public interest, and therefore, we must reject the bilateral settlement between San Gabriel and ORA. We must instead resolve the issues litigated by the City and Schools and then resolve the remaining settled issues.

5. Alternative to the Proposed Settlement's Terms

No item settled in this proceeding is dispositive of the appropriate rate treatment in subsequent proceedings. (Rule 12.5.) We find as discussed below in detail for each issue that the City and Schools otherwise raise significant doubt about the fairness of portions of the settlement so that we must consider the

contested issues, and, where persuasive, we must resolve those differences in favor of the City and Schools. As a result of rejecting the settlement we have two options: 1) to resolve all other issues one at a time based upon the litigated record; or 2) review the residual of the settlement to determine whether the outcomes are consistent with the record, consistent with the law, and therefore, acceptable as a reasonable outcome. We choose this latter option (in Section 8 below), to review and accept the balance of the settlement, and then, pursuant to Rule 12.4(c), allow San Gabriel and ORA to either accept the modified terms or to request other relief.⁴ After reviewing the record, we can adopt the remainder of the bilateral settlement because all parties, including the City and the Schools, do not dispute the other issues resolved in the bilateral agreement between San Gabriel and ORA, and therefore, we can find those settled outcomes are consistent with the record and in the public interest.

6. Consistent with the Law

Nothing in the proposed settlement precludes or limits in any way the Commission's ability to regulate San Gabriel in the future. However, [we find](#) several of the terms are not fair to ratepayers and thus are not in the public interest, and those terms do not satisfy the law. We, therefore, reject those terms as discussed below. As adopted herein, we find the modified settlement to be consistent with the law.

⁴ **12.4. (Rule 12.4) Rejection of Settlement.**¹

The Commission may reject a proposed settlement whenever it determines that the settlement is not in the public interest. Upon rejection of the settlement, the Commission may take various steps, including the following:¹

- (a) Hold hearings on the underlying issues, in which case the parties to the settlement may either withdraw it or offer it as joint testimony,¹
- (b) Allow the parties time to renegotiate the settlement, and¹
- (c) Propose alternative terms to the parties to the settlement which are acceptable to the Commission and allow the parties reasonable time within which to elect to accept such terms or to request other relief.

7. Adopting the Undisputed Settlement Terms

We find after reviewing the bilateral settlement in the absence of litigation briefs on the settlement issues not disputed by the City or Schools that the residual, undisputed, terms are reasonable outcomes based on the record available in this proceeding. It ~~would be wasteful of time and resources to needlessly~~ is unnecessary to litigate the issues which are otherwise acceptable to all three sides: San Gabriel, ORA, and the City and Schools. ~~There is no requirement that the settlement outcome mimic what the assigned Judge might have determined as reasonable on the record; only that the outcome is reasonable and not outside the bounds of the record.~~ As the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has observed, in evaluating a settlement the agreement must stand or fall on its own terms, not compared to some hypothetical result that the negotiators might have achieved, or that some believe should have been achieved:

Settlement is the offspring of compromise; the question we address is not whether the final product could be prettier, smarter or snazzier, but whether it is fair, adequate and free from collusion. (Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp., 150 F.3d 1011, 1027 (9th Cir. 1998).

Therefore, unless San Gabriel and ORA reject the modified settlement we otherwise adopt the settlement terms except for the specific modifications contained in this decision.

8. Withdrawal of Facility Fee Increase

San Gabriel filed a motion on September 21, 2012, indicating that it had determined that a more thorough analysis of its proposed increase in Facilities Fees is warranted, especially with respect to private fire service connections. Because the Facilities Fees proposal does not affect any of the other rates

proposed in this general rate case San Gabriel requests to withdraw the Facilities Fees proposal. San Gabriel may re-file a request for a change to its Facilities Fees in its next general rate case.

We set aside submission (this proceeding was otherwise submitted upon the filing of reply briefs) to grant the motion and resubmit the proceeding as of September 28, 2012, five business days after the motion. No party objected and we find it reasonable to consider a more thorough proposal in the next rate case.

9. Disputed Projects Otherwise Included in the Bilateral Settlement

9.1. Plant F15

Originally, San Gabriel requested \$6,970,000 for Plant F15⁵ to acquire land and to install a reservoir, and related facilities. The City opposed this project. ORA also originally opposed the project and recommended it be deferred. Under the bilateral settlement \$4,650,000 is to be expended on the project in 2014. The City argues that this project is directly related to the Sand Hill Water Treatment Facility (Sand Hill) discussed elsewhere. The City points out that this project must be granted permits by the City and it raises significant issues, which make construction in 2014 unlikely. (City Opening Brief at 11-12.) The City argues further that the bilateral settlement expressly provides for a land swap with San Gabriel's affiliate, Rosemead Properties. The City objects because a land swap involving Rosemead Properties for the Fontana office complex was the subject of controversy and litigation in prior rate proceedings where the Commission disallowed Rosemead Properties from profiting from the transaction. (*Id.*, citing to Decision (D.) 07-04-046; at 47-49.) The City argues the settlement does not provide any ratepayer benefits for the included \$4.6 million.

⁵ Regrettably, the Company gave numeric titles to many of the projects rather than descriptive titles. We use the numeric or descriptive titles as offered by the Company.

We find that the City identified sufficient doubts for the viability of this project and thus ratepayers are better served by deferring consideration until the next general rate case where we would expect, at a minimum, San Gabriel would have approved permits and definite plan in place for our consideration. We, therefore, exclude this project from rates at this time without prejudice, which means if San Gabriel can satisfy the permitting and planning issues, it can make a request in the next general rate case.

9.2. Plant F20

San Gabriel proposed spending \$2.65 million on a new reservoir needed while an existing reservoir is re-painted. The City proposed that San Gabriel only needs \$100,000 to repaint the interior of the existing reservoir which can be done, without a new reservoir, while seasonal demand is low. The bilateral settlement would allow \$300,000 for land – land which is owned by the City. The City ~~not only gives no indication of being willing to participate but it~~ [very clearly](#) opposes the project. (City Opening Brief at 13.)

We find it ~~completely~~ inappropriate to allow any costs in rates for a project ~~ostensibly~~ on City land when the City opposes the project. We therefore disallow \$300,000 proposed in the settlement but will allow \$100,000 for painting costs for the existing tank, which needs to be repainted.

9.3. Plant F23

In the bilateral settlement ORA and San Gabriel agree to include \$3,435,000 for 2011 through 2013, necessary in part to fund amenities required by the Conditional Use Permit imposed by the City. The City asserts that it does not object to the project yet states this amount and purpose are not supported by the record. (City Opening Brief at 14.) The City then states: “(A)ny suggestion that \$3,435,000 is required because of conditions imposed by the City is baseless and

misleading.” (*Id.*) We trust that the City not ~~to be trying to reduce rates by a slight of hand: i.e., knowing the claim to be true but~~ procedurally arguing the justification is true but not explicitly included in the record. Therefore, we will exclude the \$3,435,000 but allow San Gabriel to establish a Memorandum Account to track costs required by the Condition Use Permit for Plant F23. If San Gabriel actually spends money to fund amenities required by a Conditional Use Permit imposed by the City related to this project, then the Company may seek recovery of that money in its next general rate case (or other appropriate proceeding). San Gabriel must of course ~~convincingly~~ show by a preponderance of the evidence that these expenditures were the direct result of a Conditional Use Permit mandate.

9.4. Plant F53

Plant F53 is a Sand Hill related proposal to build two reservoirs, a booster station, and other improvements for \$3.45 million. The project is also supposed to provide energy savings. The City argues that it should be assessed in the context of Sand Hill. But, additionally, there are other deficiencies in San Gabriel’s justification for the project, in particular the failure to provide a cost-benefit analysis, a point also originally raised by ORA before it settled. (City Opening Brief at 14.)

As discussed below, we find that the Company has not justified this project ~~nor changed our minds about Sand Hill, generally~~. We therefore agree with the City that neither San Gabriel’s direct showing nor the bilateral settlement justify this expenditure.

9.5. Plant F56

San Gabriel requested \$3,070,000 for a well replacement site but in the settlement it agreed on \$1,000,000 with ORA. The City objects because first, there

is no defined project in the settlement to be achieved with the \$1,000,000 and second, the City asserts that in the litigation phase there were un-rebutted issues of water contamination because the original project did not include a provision for water treatment. (City Opening Brief at 15.) The City recommends deferring the entire project to the next general rate case where San Gabriel should provide both a cost-benefit study to support the proposed plant and it should also address water contamination issues.

We agree that it makes no sense to include an allowance for only part of a project when there are outstanding questions about both the cost-benefits and contamination. We note that the settlement did not appear to simply agree on a reduced cost for a complete project; when parties agree to a specific scope of work, for a clearly defined cost, then we can more easily accept that reasonable parties reached an agreement that differs from their litigated positions. This project does not appear to satisfy the need for specificity of both cost and scope which is necessary before we will impose a cost on ratepayers.

9.6. Plant F59

San Gabriel originally requested \$2.5 million for the project which is related to Sand Hill discussed below. The bilateral settlement between the Company and ORA includes only \$700,000 for land acquired in 2011. However, the project is not only extremely preliminary but there is also a concern that there may be litigation over water rights. The City argues that this highlights San Gabriel's failure to meet its burden of proof that the project is viable and, more importantly, necessary. The settlement ~~says~~provides that San Gabriel will subsequently perform a cost-benefit analysis.

We agree with the City that this project is not timely and therefore it is unlikely that the land ~~genuinely~~clearly meets the test of being held for a definite

future use which would normally allow rate base treatment for land acquired in anticipation of a viable project. We exclude the land costs at this time. In any future proceeding, if San Gabriel ~~can show~~ [is able to provide](#) a persuasive cost-benefit analysis for this project, which would suggest the land will become used and useful, then it may re-apply for cost recovery.

9.7. Advanced Meter Reading Program

San Gabriel proposes to implement an advanced meter reader program and asked for \$4.8 million dollars towards the long-term project. The settlement would allow \$2.86 million for a 10-year project. (Proposed Settlement at 23.) The City argues that the Company's principal justification was labor savings otherwise caused by customer growth, but forecast customer growth is zero. The City further argues that there is no evidence that the proposed technology will not be obsolete very soon, and when faced with large rate increases in a time of financial hardship generally, the program is unreasonable. (City Opening Brief at 16-17.)

So far, the Commission has only allowed California-American Water Company to install a form of an automated system in one district. Thus, there is not a strong local water industry experience with advanced meter technology.

The current economic conditions do not justify San Gabriel undertaking an advanced meter reader program, especially when there is no customer growth and ~~no valid~~ [reasonable](#) cost-benefit justification offered in the record. There is no good need shown to allow San Gabriel to be one of the first to experiment with advanced meters; it is a relatively small ~~company, even for a~~ Class-A water company, and ~~the~~ [its](#) customers would be better served if San Gabriel were not an "early adopter" of new technology.

9.8. Hydro-Turbine Pilot Program

As explained in the Settlement Agreement, San Gabriel proposed to construct an in-conduit hydroelectric generating station as a pilot project with NLine Energy, Inc., to demonstrate the viability of converting a hydraulic pressure differential into clean, renewable electrical energy. (San Gabriel Opening Brief at 22.) The City argues that the plans are incomplete, that the water supply is uncertain and no one has seen an adequate explanation of how the project would operate.

We agree with the City, we cannot rely on the settlement to justify the project. The record shows that San Gabriel's witness changed the project description from his direct testimony in his supplemental testimony. (Exhibits (Ex.) SG-5 and SG-15.) The City argues the proposal will be unreliable, there was no feasibility analysis, and provides no benefits. (City Opening Brief at 22.) We, therefore, disallow the hydro-turbine project at this time.

9.9. Mains

The City disputes the allowance settled upon by San Gabriel and ORA for mains replacement which was ostensibly based on the City's Capital Improvement Plan. The City, which presumably knows ~~it~~[its](#) plan the best, argues that based on the plan only \$5.2 million would correspond to work which would be consistent with street work planned by the City. (City Opening Brief at 19.)

This is another ~~item where San Gabriel and ORA,~~ "settled ~~an issued~~[issue](#) (down from \$29 million to \$16.6 million) where a critical participant, the City, did not agree. There is an \$11.4 million difference between the City's estimate and the bilateral settlement. ~~As noted in other issues, we~~[We](#) will not let two parties ride roughshod over another and call their bilateral bargain a "settlement."

We will ~~adopt~~include in revenue requirement the City's estimate for mains work which coincides with the City's Capital Improvement Plan. We are also reasonably certain that San Gabriel might also perform main replacement or repairs which do not coincide with the City's Capital Improvement Plan. We are not convinced that the forecast total is reliable and therefore we will allow San Gabriel to establish memorandum account to record the costs of mains repairs or replacements which do not coincide with the City's Capital Improvement Plan. This equitably protects ratepayers from a very large forecast but still allows the company an opportunity to recover unforeseen costs.

10. Disputed Issues

10.1. Plant F7

In San Gabriel's 2008 general rate case, A.08-07-009, the Commission excluded \$537,868 from rate base – these expenses arose from the retaining wall at Plant F7 (Plant F7 was included as Job 4870 in D.09-06-027). San Gabriel asks to revisit those dollars here and we decline.

Although significant time and testimony was devoted to the issue, San Gabriel was not given leave to bring this issue back and ORA is correct that D.09-06-027 disposed of the issue. (ORA Opening Brief at 6 ff.) We, therefore, decline to reconsider this out-of-time issue.

10.2. Walnut Avenue Pipeline Project (Walnut Avenue)

The Walnut Avenue facility was a project previously rejected, but San Gabriel was allowed to revisit the issue. D.09-06-027 required San Gabriel to demonstrate that the project was necessary for improved reliability.⁶ ORA

⁶ D.09-06-027, Findings of Fact 120, 122, cited by ORA Opening Brief, footnote 20.

argues here that San Gabriel again fails to justify the reliability necessity of the project and merely reargues the same case.

San Gabriel argues essentially two points: the first, which has little direct merit, is that the line has been in service for six years without rate recovery. In fact, that is the outcome for imprudent costs; they remain unrecovered even if the facility is functional. The question in D.09-06-027 was never functionality, it was reliability. San Gabriel does address this point, too. It argues that the Walnut Avenue facility serves a large number of customers, reduces the usage of distribution pipelines, and it improves service in high-demand summer months. (San Gabriel Opening Brief at 29 ff.)

It would appear that the record this time is sufficiently robust [and more clearly presented](#) to support a finding that the Walnut Avenue project does, in fact, provide reliability benefits. The passage of time is otherwise irrelevant. Therefore, we will allow San Gabriel to begin recovery of the remaining un-depreciated costs in rates because San Gabriel has finally shown the reliability benefit of the project. San Gabriel should learn from this experience that it must always make its best and most thorough case in its initial showing otherwise it risks failing to meet its burden of proof and the Commission is not obliged to give San Gabriel or any utility multiple opportunities to justify a ratemaking proposal.

10.3. Slemmer Settlement

The Slemmer Settlement was extensively litigated in the prior decision relating to settlement reached in the civil suit against San Gabriel and other defendants in the San Bernardino Superior Court on February 14, 2002.⁷ In the Slemmer suit, the plaintiffs alleged their rights as minority shareholders in

⁷ ORA Opening Brief at 11, citing D.09-06-027, at 11. This summary is consistent with all opening briefs and the prior decision.

Fontana Union Water Company (Fontana Union) had been violated by the defendants, one of whom was San Gabriel. Among the plaintiff's allegations were that the defendants violated anti-trust laws by settling a lawsuit involving access to Lytle Creek surface water, and whether the plaintiffs had received a reasonable price for the 358.6 shares previously acquired by San Gabriel. A settlement was entered into by the parties and approved by the San Bernardino Superior Court on July 24, 2006. The settlement terminated the suit, San Gabriel paid \$4,200,000 to the plaintiffs, and San Gabriel received an additional 179.2 shares of Fontana Union stock.

The essential question that San Gabriel was allowed to revisit in this proceeding was whether the \$1,585,920 of the \$4,200,000 paid in the Slemmer Settlement reasonably reflects the fair value to ratepayers for the additional 179.2 shares of Fontana Union stock acquired by San Gabriel. If the fair value is \$1,585,920 then the next question to resolve here is whether that cost should be allowed in rate base. San Gabriel is allowed to revisit this issue because D.09-06-027 required that San Gabriel "explain in its exhibits [in this proceeding] why any information in those exhibits that was not included in the record in this proceeding regarding this issue could not have been provided in [the prior] proceeding." (D.09-06-027, Ordering Paragraph 6.)

We treat the requirement in Ordering Paragraph 6 to limit San Gabriel to only information that was not available for the prior proceeding or new information subsequent to that proceeding. Anything that San Gabriel previously possessed and chose not to disclose at that time we will disregard now. Otherwise, San Gabriel (or any other utility) could choose to provide as little information as possible and then expect to continually revisit an issue by doling out ever more nuggets of information. The burden of proof is properly

met by timely providing all relevant information, not the least possible information.

San Gabriel presents as new information that it claims was not available for the prior proceeding including:

San Gabriel did not then have the benefit of all the recorded data from the past three years of escalating costs of alternative water supplies and associated energy costs to demonstrate how much San Gabriel's customers clearly and substantially saved by San Gabriel's increased ownership of Fontana Union shares. (San Gabriel Opening Brief at 37.)

San Gabriel further argues:

...testimony presented in this case provides a complete record of the information necessary to show that San Gabriel paid a reasonable price for the Fontana Union shares and that the underlying water rights are used, useful, and necessary to San Gabriel in providing water service to its customers – a record the Commission found lacking in the settlement with DRA in the previous [general rate case]. (San Gabriel Opening Brief at 38, citing to Exhibit SG-23 (Whitehead), at 5-6.)

The City argues that, ~~in fact~~, the additional shares secured no additional water rights and in no way benefit ratepayers. The City argues that San Gabriel has not shown any benefit, and in fact, the Company should not recover costs associated with a lawsuit that the Company termed as meritless because: (1) there was never a dispute about the title to the original shares acquired by San Gabriel, (2) the lawsuit never sought to recover the shares or the water rights, and therefore, (3) ratepayers were not at risk for loss of water rights. (City Opening Brief at 22-26.)

ORA also opposes any further recovery of costs from the Slemmer Settlement. (ORA Opening Brief at 13.) ORA argues that the settlement resolved

issues of wrong-doing in the acquisition of stock, a lawsuit the Company argues was meritless, and therefore, ratepayers should not be responsible.

We ~~think~~find this issue was ~~fully and~~ properly decided in the prior decision. The argument about subsequent costs of replacement water requires us to accept that because the outcome is good we should accept the original cost as reasonable. But this ignores whether San Gabriel needed to acquire those shares and that the only justification at the time was to end the lawsuit and thereby limit shareholder liability. We see nothing to convince us that our prior decision was in error and no reason to reverse our prior disallowance.

10.4. Sand Hill

Sand Hill is yet another issue ~~that would not end. This decision ends~~ it which carries on from prior proceedings. We resolve in today's decision the reasonable rate base allowance for Sand Hill and bring this issue to a final conclusion. Deferred to this proceeding was the reasonableness review of the complicated and protracted renovations to Sand Hill where the regulatory litigation spans many years and multiple proceedings.

The Sand Hill facility was first built in the 1960s in the Fontana service district, and in recent years was the subject of several proposals to upgrade it and increase its capacity. ORA provides a reliable and cogent summary in its briefing. (ORA Opening Brief at 14 ff.) San Gabriel continued the use of its original diatomaceous earth filter to treat water; added conventional dual media filter beds; and provided pretreatment capabilities. These were finally completed in 2008. In A.02-11-044, San Gabriel asked for \$9.8 million in upgrades which were approved at the time but not installed. (ORA cites to D.04-07-034, at 36.) In its next general rate case, A.05-08-021, San Gabriel again proposed upgrades to

Sand Hill with an estimate of \$35 million. The upgrades were intended to expand capacity and allow the Sand Hill facility to:

- (1) treat 29 million gallons per day;
- (2) treat 100% of Lytle Creek water;
- (3) treat 100% of State Water Project water; or
- (4) treat any combination of both Lytle Creek water and State Water Project water.

Again, the Commission authorized the project. (ORA cites to D.07-04-046, at 40, 118.) The Commission also determined that the Sand Hill's primary function is that of a base load unit, operating as nearly as possible on a 24-hour, seven-days-per-week basis to make maximum possible use of San Gabriel's most economical source of supply. (D.07-04-046 at 38.)

As discussed below, and shown by both City and ORA, Sand Hill does not perform now, and has never performed to the production levels or in the operating configurations proposed by San Gabriel, at a rate that would reasonably justify the expenditures made by San Gabriel.

The City convincingly shows that in the 2008 proceeding San Gabriel asserted in sworn testimony that Sand Hill could treat 29 million gallons of water per day. In fact, in this proceeding San Gabriel has admitted under cross-examination that this statement was not true then and is not true now. (Tr. vol. 3; 378/27-381/10.) In fact, the City argues Sand Hill has never treated 29 million gallons per day in its entire history. (Tr. vol. 1, 150/20-23.) Sand Hill has only treated 25 million gallons or greater for only about 5% of its entire history. (Ex. SG-19. Attachment 13.) The City further argues that when 25 million gallons were treated it was outside "Normal Operating Conditions" as defined by San

Gabriel's own expert. We find San Gabriel far from persuasive and we therefore find that the costs incurred for expansion are not reasonable.

Water is delivered to the plant from a penstock that feeds a hydroelectric power plant owned and operated by Southern California Edison Company (Edison). The record shows that, contrary to assertions by San Gabriel in prior cases and in this one, Edison has never been contractually obliged to serve water other than when the power plant is running and only at the levels needed for electric production. San Gabriel was allowed by D.09-06-027 to revisit that issue and has again failed to show that Edison was obliged to provide any water beyond that which it used itself. Thus, Sand Hill was never likely to receive enough water from Edison to reach 29 million gallons per day. Regardless of ~~the convoluted contortions of~~ San Gabriel's convoluted attempts to justify the likelihood of adequate water from Edison, we find San Gabriel is not persuasive and we will not revisit this issue again in future proceedings.

San Gabriel late in this proceeding offered a proposal for a new "bypass" of Edison's facilities which would assist in producing enough water. The City correctly points out there is no "design" in existence and indeed this bypass is essentially a "pipe dream." As further challenged by the City, there were numerous other technical issues which suggest Sand Hill cannot handle water from multiple sources at different receipt point water pressures. The briefs of all parties struggle to untangle the web of design and operating constraints; the points argued in prior cases; and the different suggestions offered in this proceeding; and we find the suggestions offered by San Gabriel ~~to be not just~~are unpersuasive, ~~but not credible.~~ ~~In short,~~ San Gabriel has not met its burden of proof in this proceeding or in prior proceedings that Sand Hill can operate as claimed.

10.4.1. Rate Base Adjustment

San Gabriel asks for \$40.3 million in rate base which exceeds the cap of \$35 million addressed in D.09-06-027, which itself was still subject to a reasonableness review here. Neither \$40.3 million nor \$35 million are reasonable. The Sand Hill plant expenditures are clearly a mistake at either level.

The City and ORA offer two suggestions for Sand Hill's rate base allowance: (1) \$17 million included as a limit in rate base by the City (City Opening Brief at 51-52.); or (2) a disallowance of \$15.7 million by ORA. (ORA Opening Brief at 41.)

The City argues that \$17 million was its recommendation in the prior proceeding even before the costs soared to over \$40.3 million from the \$35 million discussed in D.09-06-027. The City ~~goes through a calculation comparing~~ Sand Hill to another adjacent facility, Roemer, which was designed by the same engineers and is roughly the same size. That analysis the City claims would support even a larger disallowance (i.e. a smaller rate base allowance of only about \$10.9 million) but the City stays with its \$17 million recommendation. We will not look at the larger disallowance number that the City does not try to justify as its recommendation.

San Gabriel argues that as designed the plant should have gone from zero production to 29 million gallons per day (mgd). Because under certain conditions of turbidity Sand Hill is unusable and therefore the correct base factor is 0 mgd compared to its production after the upgrade. ORA rejects that calculation and argues the plant has a base amount of 17 mgd; that it failed to achieve 29 mgd; and it can only reasonably be relied on to produce a maximum of 24 mgd. (With rounding, this is an actual improvement calculated based on 24 mgd less the base 17 mgd for an increase of only 7 mgd.) Using San Gabriel's

target of 29 mgd less the ORA base of 17 mgd should have yielded an increase of 12 mgd (29-17=12).

ORA calculates a hypothetical number based on the fact the Sand Hill was upgraded by only 7.3 ~~million gallons per day~~mgd, not 12 million, or only 61% of the alleged increase in capacity (7.3 ÷ 12). ~~The merit to ORA's proposal is that a reasonable proxy exists for a comparable plant.~~ Using 61% as a limit on the cost this would support a rate base amount of \$24.4 million (\$40 million actual cost times 61% of the expected increase.)

San Gabriel's rates for Sand Hill were always subject to refund following a reasonableness review and it has failed to show that it was remotely reasonable to spend as much money as it did for as little production as resulted from the project. We therefore reject both the \$5.3 million in overrun costs and reject recovery at the maximum cap of \$35 million we previously set. ~~With a reasonably similar proxy, ORA's \$15.7 million disallowance would set a general target or expectation. The City's \$17 million is an offer above its own current calculation of a reasonable cost. We note that ORA argues Sand Hill provided about 61% of the alleged capacity and that would suggest an allowance of \$21.35 million of the \$35 million cap for the full increase in output of 12 million gallons per day. (\$35 million x 61%) even though we raised the cap subject to refund there are no discernable improvements provided by the higher cap.~~ Ratepayers deserve fairness and certainty. Neither fairness nor certainty is offered by San Gabriel's high cost low performance proposal.–

We ~~will end the issue and adopt the City's value of \$17 million, which was its original proposal in the prior proceeding. See Attachment II for the required refund.~~ believe that the reasonable allowance is derived in the following manner. It is generally agreed that the company is not meeting its expected production of

29 mgd. The plant only increased its reliable output to a maximum of 24 mgd. We agree with San Gabriel that absent the upgrade the production base would be zero due to turbidity. Thus the plant achieved a reliable increase of 24 mgd as opposed to the expected 29 mgd or only 83% (24/29). This results in a rate base calculation of \$29,050,000 (\$35 million x 83%).

See Attachment II for the required refund.

11. Procedural History

San Gabriel filed this application late on July 11, 2011 after a delay agreed upon with ORA. A timely prehearing conference was held and a scoping memorandum was issued on October 4, 2011. Following service of testimony and settlement negotiations there were evidentiary hearings on the remaining disputed issues. A bilateral settlement was filed by San Gabriel and ORA but it was opposed by City and Schools. Therefore, briefing allowed parties to address the litigated issues and the disputed issues from the bilateral settlement. On September 12, 2012, San Gabriel filed a motion, granted herein, to withdraw the facilities charge proposal. Submission was set aside and the motion granted. This proceeding was delayed and extensions adopted by the Commission to allow sufficient time to analyze the litigated issues and disputed settlement.

12. Comments on Proposed Decision

The proposed decision of the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Section 311 of the Public Utilities Code and comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure. Opening and Reply Comments were ~~filed on _____, and reply comments were filed on _____~~ by _____ timely filed by the parties. Several substantive changes

were made in response and are reflected in the decision. Where parties only reargued their positions and did not demonstrate factual or legal error we accorded them no weight.

13. Assignment of Proceeding

Mark J. Ferron ~~is~~was the original assigned Commissioner, it was reassigned to Michael Picker, and Douglas M. Long is the assigned ALJ in this proceeding.

Findings of Fact

1. There is an adequate record composed of all filed and served documents.
2. The ~~bilateral settlement ignored the positions of the~~ City and Schools opposed portions of the bilateral.
3. San Gabriel withdrew its request for a facilities fee.
4. The City has not granted necessary permits to San Gabriel for Plant F15, so construction is unlikely.
5. The City has not agreed to the use of its land for a new tank in item Plant F20, so construction is unlikely.
6. The existing tank needs to be repainted.
7. The City did not impose requirements for a Conditional use Permit for Plant F23, so the costs are not related to the permit.
8. Plant F53 is a booster pump for Sand Hill. San Gabriel has not provided a cost-benefit analysis for the plant.
9. Plant F56 lacks a specific scope and a cost benefit analysis.
10. Plant F59 is a project related to Sand Hill. San Gabriel has not provided a cost-benefit analysis that would show a genuine need for land held for future use.

11. San Gabriel's advanced meter reading system has not been shown to be justified under current economic conditions and has not been shown to be state of the art technology.

12. The Hydro-turbine project is incomplete and therefore cannot be justified within the settlement.

13. The mains work proposed in the bilateral settlement is not consistent with the City's Capital Improvement Plan.

[14. Additional mains work beyond the City's Capital Improvement Plan is uncertain.](#)

[15.](#) ~~14.~~ Plant F7 is a retaining wall previously disallowed and finally resolved by the Commission in D.09-06-027.

[16.](#) ~~15.~~ The Walnut Avenue facility has now been shown to provide enhanced reliability, a point not shown previously. San Gabriel was allowed to revisit this issue in this proceeding ~~in D.XX-XX-XXX~~.

[17.](#) ~~16.~~ The remaining undepreciated book value invested in the Walnut Avenue facility provides enhanced reliability to customers.

[18.](#) ~~17.~~ The additional cost of \$1,585,920 for shares acquired as a part of settling the Slemmer litigation ending the litigation.

[19.](#) ~~18.~~ Sand Hill has failed to operate as claimed by San Gabriel and has never achieved design maximum volumes. Sand Hill's production was increased by only 7 million gallons per day and not 12 million.

[20.](#) ~~19.~~ San Gabriel spent ~~far more money~~ than the \$35 million cap and cannot achieve the targeted increase in capacity.

[21.](#) ~~20.~~ The City proposes a rate base proxy of \$17 million for the capacity increase at Sand Hill.

22. Sand Hill achieved a reasonably reliable maximum of 24 mgd, only 83% of its expectation.

23. San Hill had a reliable base amount of 0 mgd due to turbidity issues.

24. The \$5 million spent in excess of the prior cap provided no improvement in capacity.

Conclusions of Law

1. Applicant bears the burden of proof to show that the proposed settlement is reasonable.

2. A bilateral settlement is not reasonable when it ignores the persuasive ~~positions~~positions and best interests of other parties.

3. The proposed settlement is not reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest, therefore the Commission should reject and modify it.

4. The Commission has the discretion and authority to resolve issues which were addressed in the settlement, and modify the proposed settlement based upon the more persuasive testimony and argument of the contesting parties.

5. It is reasonable to set aside submission and grant the late request for San Gabriel to withdraw its facilities fee proposal.

6. A memorandum account for mains work beyond the City's Capital Improvement Plan reasonably protects ratepayers and San Gabriel.

7. 6. Plant F7 was previously litigated and disallowed and therefore should not be re-litigated here.

8. 7. San Gabriel has now met its burden of proof that the Walnut Avenue facility provides enhanced reliability, and therefore, the undepreciated value should now be recovered in rates.

9. ~~8.~~ The additional cost of \$1,585,920 for shares acquired as a part of settling the Slemmer litigation does not provide any value to ratepayers; the cost benefited shareholders by ending the litigation, and therefore, is unreasonable.

10. ~~9.~~ Sand Hill has failed to operate as claimed by San Gabriel and has never achieved design maximum volumes, and the full cost is therefore unreasonable.

11. ~~10.~~ A reasonable proxy is fair to ratepayers for the increased production at Sand Hill.

12. ~~11.~~ The Sand Hill capital improvements ~~are reasonably capped at a proxy cost of \$17 million in rate base~~ is reasonably determined by applying the 83% achieved increase in production to the prior cap of \$35 million.

13. ~~12.~~ This decision should be effective today.

14. ~~13.~~ This proceeding should be closed.

O R D E R

IT IS ORDERED that:

1. The proposed settlement (Attachment I) between San Gabriel Valley Water Company (San Gabriel) for its Fontana Water Company Division and the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA) is rejected as filed and is modified as proposed herein. Pursuant to Rule 12.4(c) of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules), San Gabriel and ORA must decide whether to accept the modified settlement or seek other relief as allowed by the Rules. San Gabriel and ORA must respond within 14 days of the issuance of today's decision. Except as modified in Ordering Paragraph 2, the settlement (attached to this decision as Attachment I) is adopted.

2. The following modifications are made to the proposed settlement between San Gabriel Valley Water Company (San Gabriel) for its Fontana Water Company Division and the Office of Ratepayer Advocates:

- a. Plant F15 is disallowed and excluded from the modified settlement.
- b. Plant F20 is modified in the modified settlement to disallow the cost of land but to still include \$100,000 to paint the existing water tank.
- c. Plant F23 has \$3,435,000 disallowed for the costs alleged to be required by a Conditional Use Permit in the modified settlement.
- d. Plant F53 is disallowed and excluded from the modified settlement.
- e. Plant F56 is excluded from the modified settlement and deferred until San Gabriel can justify the project in the future.
- f. Plant F59 is excluded from the modified settlement and deferred until San Gabriel can justify the project in the future.
- g. The Advanced Meter Reading Program is disallowed and excluded from the modified settlement.
- h. The Hydro-Turbine Pilot Program is disallowed and excluded from the modified settlement.

- i. The capital program for Mains is reduced from the settlement's \$16.6 million to \$5.2 million, consistent with City of Fontana's Capital Improvement Plan. San Gabriel may, however, track any spending in excess of the allowance based on the Capital Improvement Plan.

3. In the event that San Gabriel Valley Water Company (San Gabriel) for its Fontana Water Company Division and the Office of Ratepayer Advocates accept the modified settlement adopted in Ordering Paragraphs 1 and 2, San Gabriel must file within 14 days of accepting the modified settlement a Tier 1 Advice Letter to implement the rate changes incorporated in the modified settlement as included in the revenue requirement and related tables attached as Attachment III to this decision.

4. San Gabriel Valley Water Company may resubmit a proposal for its Facility Fee in the next general rate case in order to reconsider the proposal withdrawn in this proceeding.

5. San Gabriel Valley Water Company may file a Tier 1 Advice Letter to establish a memorandum account for mains work which is beyond the scope of work performed consistent with the City of Fontana's Capital Improvement Plan.

6. 5-Plant F7 was previously disallowed in Decision 09-06-027 and is not reconsidered herein.

7. 6-The Walnut Avenue Pipeline Project has been shown to have reliability benefits and is approved.

8. 7-The additional cost of \$1,585,920 for shares acquired as a part of settling the Slemmer litigation is denied.

9. 8-The reasonable Sand Hill Water Treatment Facility capital improvements are ~~capped at \$17 million in rate base.~~\$29,050,000.

~~10.9.~~ San Gabriel Valley Water Company (San Gabriel) must file a Tier 1 Advice Letter to establish a Memorandum Account for Plant F23 costs actually incurred and required by City of Fontana a Conditional Use Permit. San Gabriel must maintain specific records which clearly document the expenses in connection with the City of Fontana a Conditional Use Permit.

~~11. 10.~~ San Gabriel Valley Water Company must file a Tier 2 Advice Letter to implement a refund of any over-collection in rates for Sand Hill Water Treatment Facility plant costs recovered in rates that exceed the rate base cap of ~~\$17-~~ million. ~~29,050,000.~~

~~12. 11.~~ Application 11-07-005 is closed.

This order is effective today.

Dated _____, at San Francisco, California.

ATTACHMENT

List of Appearances

***** SERVICE LIST *****

Last Updated on 15 OCT 2013 by: JVG-
A1107005 LIST

***** PARTIES *****

Kendall H. Maevey _____
BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP _____
3390 UNIVERSITY AVE., FLR. 5 _____
RIVERSIDE CA 92501-3369 _____
(951) 686-1450 _____
kendall.maevey@bbklaw.com _____
For: City of Fontana _____

Marvin T. Sawyer _____
District Legal Counsel _____
FONTANA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT _____
9680 CITRUS AVE., BLDG. NO 4 _____
FONTANA CA 92376 _____
(909) 357-5000 X7222 _____

Shanna Foley _____
Legal Division _____
505 Van Ness Avenue _____
San Francisco CA 94102 3298 _____
(415) 703-2969 _____
sf2@epue.ca.gov _____

Douglas M. Long _____
Administrative Law Judge Division _____
RM. 5021 _____
505 Van Ness Avenue _____
San Francisco CA 94102 3298 _____
(415) 703-3200 _____
dug@epue.ca.gov _____

Patricia Ma _____
Division of Ratepayer Advocates _____

sawymt@fUSD.net
For: Fontana Unified School District

Martin A. Mattes
Attorney
NOSSAMAN, LLP
50 CALIFORNIA STREET, STE. 3400
SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111-4799
(415) 398-7273
mmattes@nossaman.com
For: San Gabriel Valley Water Company

Martha Perez
Legal Division
RM. 4107
505 Van Ness Avenue
San Francisco CA 94102 3298
(415) 703-1219
mpg@epuc.ca.gov
For: ORA

***** STATE EMPLOYEE *****

Michael Colvin
Advisor - Energy
CPUC
EMAIL ONLY
EMAIL ONLY CA 00000
(415) 355-5484
michael.colvin@epuc.ca.gov

Timothy J. Ryan
Vp & General Counsel
SAN GABRIEL VALLEY WATER COMPANY
11142 GARVEY AVE., PO BOX 6010
EL MONTE CA 91734-2010
(626) 448-6183
TJRyan@sgvwater.com

RM. 3200
505 Van Ness Avenue
San Francisco CA 94102 3298
(415) 703-1559
ppm@epuc.ca.gov

Herbert Merida
Division of Ratepayer Advocates
RM. 3200
505 Van Ness Avenue
San Francisco CA 94102 3298
(415) 703-5998
hme@epuc.ca.gov

Terence Shia
Division of Ratepayer Advocates
RM. 4208
505 Van Ness Avenue
San Francisco CA 94102 3298
(415) 703-2213
ts2@epuc.ca.gov

Ting-Pong Yuen
Division of Ratepayer Advocates
AREA 3-D
505 Van Ness Avenue
San Francisco CA 94102 3298
(415) 703-2895
tpy@epuc.ca.gov

***** INFORMATION ONLY *****

Daniel A. Dell'Osa
Dir - Rates & Revenue
SAN GABRIEL VALLEY WATER COMPAAANY
11142 GARVEY AVENUE
EL MONTE CA 91733-2425
(626) 448-6183
dadelloso@sgvwater.com

(END OF ATTACHMENT)

Document comparison by Workshare Compare on Tuesday, March 11, 2014
4:19:20 PM

Input:	
Document 1 ID	file:///d:/gd2/Desktop/ALJ Long/Long Agenda Dec Proposed Settlement of SGVWC#27s 2012 Test Year GRC...Resolves all other Issues (Comparison2).docx
Description	Long Agenda Dec Proposed Settlement of SGVWC#27s 2012 Test Year GRC...Resolves all other Issues (Comparison2)
Document 2 ID	file:///d:/gd2/Desktop/ALJ Long/Long Agenda Dec Revision 1 San Gabriel Valley Water Company#27s General Rate Case (Clean final version).docx
Description	Long Agenda Dec Revision 1 San Gabriel Valley Water Company#27s General Rate Case (Clean final version)
Rendering set	Standard

Legend:	
Insertion	
Deletion	
Moved from	
Moved to	
Style change	
Format change	
Moved deletion	
Inserted cell	
Deleted cell	
Moved cell	
Split/Merged cell	
Padding cell	

Statistics:	
	Count
Insertions	75
Deletions	82
Moved from	1
Moved to	1
Style change	0
Format changed	0
Total changes	159

